DIET, NUTRITION, AND PROSTATE CANCER

Steven K. Clinton

The Arthur G. James Cancer Hospital and Research Institute, The Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio 43210

Edward Giovannucci

Department of Medicine, Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts 02115; e-mail: egiovannucci@channing.harvard.edu

KEY WORDS: hormones, energy, fatty acids, vitamin A, vitamin D, carotenoids

ABSTRACT

Cancer of the prostate gland is one of the most common malignancies in affluent nations, in part due to the application of new screening and diagnostic tools. The development of life-threatening prostate cancer is the culmination of a complex series of initiation and promotional events over a period of decades and under the influence of many interacting genetic and environmental factors. A rapidly accumulating scientific literature provides compelling evidence for the hypothesis that diet and nutrition are important factors modifying risk of prostate cancer. Additional resources devoted to interactive research efforts by laboratory scientists and epidemiologists will provide further enlightenment and continued refinement of our assessment of risks and benefits for specific nutrients and dietary patterns. These studies provide hope that evidence-based dietary interventions will significantly impact the risk of prostate cancer and enhance the efficacy of therapeutic interventions.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	414
HISTOPATHOLOGY AND CLINICAL PROGRESSION	415
ENVIRONMENTAL AND GENETIC RISK FACTORS	
Age	416
Genetics and Family History	417
International Variation, Migration, and Race	417

Time Trends	418
Demographic Risk Factors	418
Occupational Exposures	418
<i>Tobacco</i>	419
Sexual and Reproductive Factors	419
Endocrine Factors	419
DIET AND NUTRITIONAL RISK FACTORS	421
Energy Balance: Caloric Intake, Anthropometrics, and Physical Activity	421
Dietary Fat and Fatty Acid Profiles	423
Protein	424
Alcohol	424
Poultry, Meat, Fish, and Dairy Products	425
Vitamin E	426
Vitamin A	
Fruits, Vegetables, and Carotenoids	428
Selenium	
Calcium, Phosphorus, and Vitamin D	430
SHMMARY	431

INTRODUCTION

The etiology of prostate cancer is poorly understood. Currently, however, knowledge concerning a diverse array of interacting genetic and environmental factors that contribute to risk is undergoing rapid growth. The role in the prostate cancer cascade of specific foods, dietary patterns, and nutrients has not been studied as vigorously as have many other diet and cancer relationships. Several fundamental observations suggest that the risk of developing prostate cancer is profoundly influenced by such environmental exposures. The wide range in age-adjusted mortality rates for prostate cancer observed among various countries (124, 192) cannot be attributed primarily to genetics. Within ethnic groups that migrate from low- to high-risk areas, mortality from prostate cancer increases significantly (65, 172). Furthermore, a temporal increase in prostate cancer incidence and mortality has occurred in several populations, for example among Japanese men in the decades following World War II (71) and among African-American males between 1930 and 1971 (37). Improvements in diagnostic technologies may have contributed to these trends, but they are unlikely to account entirely for the rising number of cases and deaths during the years prior to the development of prostate-specific antigen screening or modern imaging and biopsy techniques. It is estimated that among American men, during 1997, prostate cancer will account for 40% of all new cancer cases diagnosed (excluding skin cancer) and cause over 40,000 deaths (124). Prostate cancer currently ranks second, following lung cancer, as the underlying cause of cancer death, accounting for approximately 13% of all cancer mortality and 2.5–3.0% of all deaths among males. Furthermore, many men suffer impotence or incontinence of urine following primary therapy for prostate cancer, whereas others experience years of symptoms related to the slow progression of metastatic disease. Prostate cancer has therefore emerged as a major concern for many Americans, and the costs to our health care system for screening, diagnosis, and treatment are growing rapidly. Opportunities for prevention must be identified, cost-effective preventive strategies tested, and programs established for the dissemination of knowledge to the medical community and the public. This chapter focuses on evidence that diet and nutrition play a role in the etiology and prevention of prostate cancer. Because it is critical that dietary hypotheses are integrated within a larger network of data concerning other etiologic factors, such as age and hormones, these are also reviewed briefly.

HISTOPATHOLOGY AND CLINICAL PROGRESSION

The prostate is one of several accessory sex glands of the male reproductive tract. It is located at the base of the bladder and in a healthy adult male weighs approximately 50 g. Interestingly, despite a similar embryonic origin, prostate cancer is common whereas cancers in the other accessory sex glands are rare. Furthermore, among hundreds of species examined, only humans and dogs have a significant risk for prostate neoplasia. The main function of the prostate is poorly understood, but it appears to be related to the production of secretions that aid in sperm function and in liquefying cervical mucous. The growth and development of the male prostate is largely controlled by sex hormones. The secretion of testosterone from the embryonic testis at approximately week 12 of fetal development stimulates prostate morphogenesis. It is possible, although speculative, that diet and nutritional factors modulating the fetal-maternal unit may alter the developing prostate and influence risk of cancer decades later. The prostate remains small until adolescence, when under the stimulation of male hormones during puberty it may rapidly grow from 5 to over 25 g. Subsequent increase in prostate size is more gradual and often associated with benign prostatic hyperplasia, a histopathologic process affecting the majority of men in affluent nations, and contributing to symptoms of prostatism in later decades of life (12, 32).

Prostate cancer exhibits a long preclinical phase or latency. This implies that diet and nutrition may influence prostate cancer progression at many stages of the male life cycle. Investigators are beginning to identify and characterize precursor lesions of prostate cancer. The continuum from normal prostatic epithelium, through preneoplasia or dysplasia, and culminating in prostate carcinoma is characterized by a number of features: progressive loss of markers of secretory differentiation, basal cell layer disruption, increasing nuclear and nucleolar abnormalities, greater proliferation, increased microvessel density, and progressive genetic instability (17). Prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PIN) is a putative precancerous stage and can be divided into two grades, low and high

(PIN 1 and PIN 2, respectively) (16). The incidence of PIN increases with age, and it is noted in a significant proportion of men by the third and fourth decades of life (63, 143, 154, 156, 157).

Latent prostate cancer is a poorly characterized term used to describe a lesion that is malignant by histopathologic criteria but found on postmortem examination of the prostate (62, 63). The terms microfocal and subclinical prostate cancer are also referred to in this context. The term latent is often interpreted as meaning low virulence, but the aggressiveness or the biological potential to become clinically relevant over time (if the person had survived) cannot be precisely ascertained by current histopathologic techniques. Autopsy studies from different geographic areas around the world suggest that latent prostate cancer can be detected in subjects after the third decade of life and is increasingly more common with age (63, 155, 157). Latent prostate cancer may be observed in 20–30% of men in their 50s and from 50–70% of men in their 80s (156, 185). Most of these lesions are small, typically unifocal, and primarily categorized as well to moderately differentiated (63). It is not known whether the origins and natural history of these lesions are distinct from tumors that become clinically significant or whether the latent cancers represent a continuum on a linear progression toward aggressive disease. If, indeed, these focal lesions represent a step in the pathway toward lethal prostate cancer, then the critical objective of our research is to identify and control the factors that accelerate progression from "latent" to clinical disease.

Prostate cancer shows heterogeneity in presentation and unpredictable rates of progression. Adenocarcinoma of the prostate typically spreads by local invasion through the capsule into adjacent organs, as well as via lymphatics and the vasculature to other tissues or organs. Metastases to the bone are common and a source of significant morbidity. The 5-year survival rates for prostate cancer are closely related to the stage at which the disease is initially diagnosed and treated. For men diagnosed with disease confined to the prostate, a 5-year survival rate of over 90% is expected, although many at that time have recurrent disease. For men initially presenting with distant metastases, fewer than 30% are expected to live 5 years with current therapy.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND GENETIC RISK FACTORS

Age

Prostate cancer is rarely detected prior to the age of 40, and the incidence rates increase rapidly for each subsequent decade of life. Although prostate cancer is typically considered a disease of older men, the high overall frequency in western nations makes prostate cancer a common malignancy in men between the ages of 50 and 70.

Genetics and Family History

A hereditary component of prostate cancer has been demonstrated, although the role of specific gene products remains poorly understood (60, 63). For example, men who have a first-degree relative with prostate cancer have a two-to threefold greater likelihood of developing prostate cancer compared with men without a first-degree relative with prostate cancer. However, the vast majority of prostate cancer cases, perhaps 90%, cannot be explained by rare and highly penetrant hereditary factors. We are beginning to appreciate the presence of genes exhibiting common polymorphisms that may modulate physiologic processes related to prostate cancer, such as androgen sensitivity (56, 85). It is probable that many yet-to-be-identified genetic polymorphisms modulating hormone secretion and action—as well as nutrient absorption, distribution, and metabolism—may contribute to risk.

International Variation, Migration, and Race

There is an approximately 30-fold difference between nations with the lowest rates of prostate cancer mortality, such as China and Japan, and those with the highest, such as the economically developed nations of North America, western and northern Europe, and Australia (124–126). In contrast, the age-specific prevalence of latent prostate cancer appears to exhibit less geographic and racial variation than does clinical or lethal prostate cancer, although the observed trends are parallel with those of clinical disease and mortality (2, 63, 185). Interestingly, the frequency of latent prostate cancer detected at autopsy in Japan increased from 22% in 1965–1979 to 35% in 1982–1986, in parallel with the continued Westernization of the Japanese diet (166).

Many studies of migrant populations moving from areas of low risk show an upward shift in incidence and mortality after living in nations exhibiting higher prevailing rates (65, 172). First-generation Asian-Americans experience rates that are approximately one third to one half those of Caucasian-Americans (65, 187). However, Japanese- and Chinese-Americans have a significantly, approximately three- to fivefold, greater risk than do native Japanese and Chinese (65, 187). Differences in detection strategies do exist between nations, but results of most migrant studies suggest a real shift in incidence toward rates of the host country, which supports the hypothesis that the international and racial differences in prostate cancer risk are defined primarily by environment and are not of genetic origin.

African-Americans experience one of the highest risks of prostate cancer in the world (116, 141). Stratification for socioeconomic and educational experience does not account for the greater incidence, presentation at more advanced stage, and overall worse prognosis than for their white counterparts (63, 116, 133, 135). The underlying causes of these racial differences remain

unknown. The low rates of prostate cancer in many black populations in Africa and the increase in risk in migrants moving to affluent nations suggest environmental factors are of primary concern (116, 141). The interacting roles of hormonal, dietary, genetic, and socioeconomic factors require additional examination (110, 116, 141).

Time Trends

It is believed that prostate cancer incidence and mortality rates have gradually increased worldwide over several decades (192, 193). The most rapid increase in mortality appears to be in those countries exhibiting the lowest base-line prostate cancer mortality rates. For example, the age-adjusted mortality from prostate cancer has increased almost eightfold in Japan over the 30-year period between World War II and 1980. In parallel, the rate in Hong Kong tripled over a 20-year period (1960–1980). During the same period, prostate cancer–specific mortality in the United States changed by only 6%. Some investigators have argued that much of the increase in prostate cancer incidence may be artifactual and due to more aggressive diagnosis and screening of the aging populations observed in many nations. Furthermore, the increased use of transurethral resection of the prostate (TURP) for treatment of benign prostatic hypertrophy has often detected unsuspected prostate cancer (117, 139). Many of the cancers detected by TURP seem to have low risk of progression and represent the latent forms observed at autopsy.

Demographic Risk Factors

Studies have not consistently identified a connection between socioeconomic status or educational level and prostate cancer risk (63). Interestingly, the excess risk in blacks persists across all socioeconomic strata (151). However, economic factors may influence availability and access to health care, as well as attitudes and concerns over health care and screening exhibited by various economic and ethnic subgroups, which could influence detection rates, stage of presentation, and mortality (142). Minimal differences between urban and rural residence have been observed. Specific religious groups have been examined relative to mortality rates of prostate cancer. In Utah, Mormons experience a 10–15% greater prostate cancer mortality than do other men in the same geographic region (105). Seventh Day Adventists, who like Mormons do not use alcohol, tobacco, or caffeine products but who advocate eating lacto-ovo vegetarian diets, experience a slightly lower incidence of prostate cancer mortality compared with the national norm (130, 131).

Occupational Exposures

Specific occupational-related exposures have been proposed as contributing factors to prostate cancer. However, based on present knowledge it is unlikely

that occupation accounts for an appreciable proportion of the prostate cancer cases. Workers in heavy industry, newspaper printing, farming, and rubber manufacturing, as well as those exposed to cadmium in the workplace, have been studied extensively without definitive conclusions (13, 15, 63, 179).

Tobacco

An association between prostate cancer incidence and tobacco use has been inconsistent, and most literature indicates that tobacco is not likely to be a major determinant of overall risk (107, 118). Nonetheless, a series of studies have reported higher incidence or mortality rates from prostate cancer among smokers (34, 35, 74, 75, 81). These observations are supported by preliminary data from the Health Professionals Follow-up Study, where smoking in the years just prior to diagnosis was related to more aggressive and lethal prostate cancer. The effects of smoking on prostate cancer risk could be mediated by carcinogens found in tobacco smoke or indirectly via alterations in the host internal environment, such as changes in hormone status or nutrient metabolism. Additional studies focusing on the critical timing of smoking during the life cycle and the specific stages of prostate cancer progression are necessary.

Sexual and Reproductive Factors

Some studies indicate an increased risk of prostate cancer with a higher frequency of intercourse and greater number of sexual partners (63). Furthermore, a higher prevalence of past venereal disease among case subjects than among control subjects is frequently observed. Because these patterns are similar to those observed for cancer of the cervix, it has been hypothesized that prostate cancer may also be related to infectious agents spread through sexual contact. Several epidemiologic studies have suggested a modest association between vasectomy and higher risk of prostate cancer, although other studies have not supported this link, and mechanisms remain to be identified (53, 63).

Endocrine Factors

Eunuchs and males with congenital abnormalities of androgen metabolism do not develop prostate cancer (63). The classic studies of Huggins and collaborators (77, 78) showed the profound sensitivity of prostate cancer growth and progression to androgens and led to the development of many strategies of androgen ablation for prostate cancer treatment. It has long been postulated that levels of endogenous hormone production may be related to risk of prostate cancer. Testosterone, which is converted by the enzyme 5-alpha-reductase to the active metabolite dihydrotestosterone (DHT), is the major hormonal regulator of prostate growth and function. Furthermore, sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG) binds circulating testosterone, thereby influencing the bioavailability of androgens, and may be a key modulator of hormone action. However, many

other hormones, such as prolactin, growth hormone, insulin-like growth factors, corticosteroids, estrogens, and thyroid hormone, participate in prostate biology.

Dozens of case-control studies have compared circulating testosterone levels and other hormones measured by immunoassays or biological assays (1, 52, 63, 118). Overall, results have been inconsistent, in part because of the limited power of studies involving small sample populations and relatively high within person variability. Often studies do not attempt to control for factors related to circulating hormone concentrations such as weight, age, smoking, alcohol, diet, and medications (43). Furthermore, case-control studies may be compromised by the effects of active prostate cancer or its treatment on hormone profiles. Prospective serological studies may overcome some of the methodological problems of case-control studies, but few have been completed. One such prospective study recently reported a strong trend of increasing prostate cancer risk with greater concentrations of plasma testosterone after adjusting for SHBG (46). In addition, higher levels of SHBG were related to lower prostate cancer risk.

A hormonal etiology may be the key factor associated with the higher risk of prostate cancer in African-American males (150). It has been proposed that African-Americans have higher testosterone levels than Caucasian males have. Indeed, some studies suggest a slightly greater level of nonprotein bound or free testosterone (not bound to SHBG) (40, 149). Furthermore, African-American women have higher concentrations of testosterone and estradiol during pregnancy than Caucasians have, and it has been hypothesized that these hormonal patterns acting in utero may influence the prostate cancer cascade in male children (68).

There have been few studies comparing prostate hormone receptor activity and risk of cancer. For example, the androgen receptor is a member of the steroid hormone receptor family and binds DHT. It is thought that environmental factors influence the physiological expression of the androgen receptor. Perhaps genetic polymorphisms in androgen receptor expression and function may also influence, along with serum concentrations of ligand, the risk of progression. The androgen receptor gene is highly polymorphic in humans. Genetic variations, such as the number of CAG repeats, may be correlated with transactivation activity and contribute to ethnic variations in prostate cancer risk (29, 56). We recently reported that hormone receptor density of the prostate can be modulated by dietary variables even when no changes in serum hormone profiles are detectable (27). Overall, it is clear that hormone profiles and receptor activity contribute to prostate cancer progression. However, more work is necessary in order to understand how environmental factors as well as genetic

polymorphisms controlling hormone synthesis, metabolism, and bioactivity may ultimately interact with diet and nutrition to modulate risk.

DIET AND NUTRITIONAL RISK FACTORS

Energy Balance: Caloric Intake, Anthropometrics, and Physical Activity

Energy intake is generally inadequately measured by the dietary assessment tools employed in large epidemiologic studies, and new techniques are needed (188). Cohort or case-control studies have, thus far, provided inconsistent results concerning the association between estimated energy intake and prostate cancer risk (51, 54, 145, 163, 183, 186). One study reported that men whose intake of energy is in the upper-most quartile experienced a strongly elevated risk for prostate tumors that exhibit more-aggressive behavior (183). Increased energy intake, particularly from saturated fat, was associated with greater risk in African-Americans, Caucasian-Americans, and Asian-Americans (186). Laboratory studies have demonstrated that modest diet or energy restrictions reduce the incidence or growth of many experimental cancers in rodents. We recently investigated the hypothesis that dietary energy intake may modulate experimental prostate carcinogenesis. Preliminary studies using the Dunning R3327H well-differentiated, slow-growing, transplantable prostate adenocarcinoma show that energy restriction produces a dose-dependent inhibition of prostate tumor growth. Furthermore, the source of energy restriction appears to be less important than the degree of energy restriction. A similar inhibition in tumor growth is observed when diets are restricted in fat calories or carbohydrate calories.

Although in large studies accurate height and body weight can be obtained, quantifying abdominal versus peripheral obesity, body composition, and other anthropometric measures is problematic. Nutritional factors that influence body anthropometrics early in life may also affect future prostate cancer risk, but these measurements are also difficult to assess retrospectively. For example, one study has suggested an association between increased incidence of prostate cancer and high birth weight, which in turn suggests that the prenatal maternal environment interacting with genetics has a lifelong effect on the prostate (178). Taller individuals appear to be at higher risk for several malignancies (4, 5), and some, but not all, studies suggest a similar association for prostate cancer (7, 55, 59, 67, 91, 190). Attained height is critically dependent on childhood and adolescent nutrition. This developmental period is characterized by profound changes in levels of sex hormones, growth hormone, and insulin-like growth factor-1, as well as by the development of the prostate gland. Energy intake is

but one of many nutritional variables modulating these processes during adolesence and is not easily documented by diet-assessment tools employed decades later.

Studies of prostate cancer have yielded inconsistent results concerning the relationship between various measurements of adult body mass or obesity and risk (55, 91, 93, 96, 103, 152, 169, 175, 176, 183, 186). In males, obesity is associated with higher serum estrogen and lower testosterone levels (6, 10, 43, 127), a hormonal pattern that would be predicted to decrease risk of prostate cancer. Indeed, preadult (age 10) obesity was related to a lower risk of advanced or metastatic prostate cancer later in life (55). Body mass index (BMI) has often been employed as a measure of obesity, but the BMI is correlated with both adiposity and lean body mass and may not prove to be the best surrogate marker for assessing alterations in energy balance and prostate cancer risk (49). The results from one prospective study indicated that an observed positive association between BMI and prostate cancer risk was due to lean body mass (assessed by upper-arm circumference) rather than to the level of adiposity (162). These results suggest that BMI may be a confounded measure of obesity and that future studies should include additional assessments of obesity and lean body mass in order to dissect their independent contributions to risk.

Data regarding physical activity and prostate cancer are relatively sparse (3, 20, 122, 134, 163, 180, 191). A modest inverse relationship between physical activity and risk of prostate cancer had been suggested in several studies (3, 20, 100, 101, 177, 180). However, others have found no association (163, 191), and two studies indicated an increased risk of prostate cancer among men who were more physically active during young adulthood (122, 134). One large cohort study of Harvard alumni found a lower risk for men who expended an extraordinary amount of energy (101). A study from China reported a slight excess of prostate cancer among men whose occupations entailed low activity levels, but the study was seriously limited by the inability to control for potential confounders (76). Overall, it is not clear how physical activity may independently or by interaction with the diet alter prostate cancer risk. Furthermore, potential mechanisms of action and periods of life during which the physical activity may be most relevant remain to be explored.

The effects of energy balance and anthropometrics on hormone status is of critical importance for the understanding of prostate cancer risk. Physical activity is associated with lower testosterone levels (64, 173). Among the many hormones that may be altered by changes in energy intake is insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) (27, 39, 79). IGF-1 levels are reduced by lowering energy and protein intake (82). Prostate epithelial cells have IGF-1 receptors, and IGF-1 stimulates proliferation in the presence of DHT in androgen-dependent prostate cancer cell lines (30, 31, 102). Moreover, circulating IGF-1 correlates with

growth rates in adolescence and childhood and with adult lean body mass. Recent findings from a cohort study suggest that circulating IGF-I concentrations adjusted for its binding protein in prospectively collected samples are positively related to future risk of prostate cancer (21a). Furthermore, in mice bearing the LNCaP prostate tumor, energy restriction is associated with reduced tumor growth and lower concentrations of IGF-I. These studies suggest that IGF-I may be a key biomarker and potential mediator of changes in energy balance and in risk of prostate cancer.

Dietary Fat and Fatty Acid Profiles

National per capita total fat consumption among nations of the world is strongly correlated with mortality rate from prostate cancer (8, 21, 26, 189a). Although the evidence from case-control studies and prospective cohort studies is not entirely consistent, the results generally show a positive relationship (58, 69, 89, 93, 115, 119, 152, 153, 159, 175, 183). For example, the Health Professionals Follow-up Study (54) of 51,521 men in the United States found a weak though nonsignificant trend for total fat intake (RR = 1.7) after adjusting for total energy intake. A comprehensive case-control study among African-Americans, Caucasian-Americans, and Asian-Americans also observed a slight increase in risk with greater total fat intake across all ethnic groups (186). Case-control and cohort studies have not provided consistent results regarding the specific dietary fatty acid patterns and their major food sources and prostate cancer risk (189). In general, evidence supports a positive relationship between prostate cancer and saturated fat or animal fat (54, 58, 69, 80, 99, 114, 146, 183, 186, 189a). Few investigations have focused on the role of monounsaturated lipids, and the results are inconsistent (54, 80, 183, 186, 189a). A slight, nonsignificant increase in risk of advanced prostate cancer was observed for monounsaturated fats in the Health Professionals Follow-up study (54). The evidence concerning diets rich in polyunsaturated fats is also inconclusive (80, 146, 189a). A strong association was observed between the estimated intake of α -linolenic acid, with a relative risk of 3.4 for men in the highest quintile of intake (54). Efforts to utilize blood fatty acid profiles as a surrogate marker of intake and to define the relationship to prostate cancer risk are underway. The association between plasma phospholipid fatty acid profiles and the development of prostate cancer was examined in a nested case-control design (47). The only significant relationship observed was between increasing concentrations of plasma α -linolenic acid and greater prostate cancer risk. In vitro studies have shown that linoleic acid stimulates the growth of prostate cancer cells in culture (148). Although omega-3 fatty acids appear to inhibit the growth of prostate cells in culture, the epidemiologic studies have not shown a significant relationship with risk (54, 80, 189a).

The effects of dietary fat concentrations on prostate tumorigenesis have been examined in a few rodent models (28, 136, 147, 148, 181). Essential fatty acids are required for the growth of the well-differentiated hormone-dependent Dunning adenocarcinoma, although in the same studies a large range of intake (12-40% of total energy intake) of dietary fat derived from corn oil had no effect on tumor growth rates (28). In contrast, a range of 20–40% of total energy intake from fat increased the growth of the poorly differentiated LNCaP human prostate adenocarcinoma transplanted into mice (181). Two studies have reported that mice fed diets rich in omega-3 fatty acids experienced slower growth of human prostate tumor cell line xenografts (88, 147). No major effects of dietary fat concentration on two carcinogen-induced prostate tumor models were noted (140, 165). Additional studies comparing whole-grain diets with diets supplemented with fat added by dilution to the control diet suggested an increase in tumor incidence in the high-fat-fed group (136, 137). Another study showed that rats fed high-fat diets developed more atypical hyperplasia and spontaneous cancers, but energy intake was also much higher in those fed the high-fat diets (94). The possibility that diets varying in fat content or having specific fatty acid patterns may modify the progression of prostate cancer is a viable hypothesis that requires additional investigation. Some studies suggest that high-fat diets alter hormonal environments (70), whereas others do not support that idea (27, 28, 43).

Protein

Data are limited concerning the relationship of total protein or animal versus vegetable protein and the risk of prostate cancer. In several studies positive associations have been suggested between total protein intake and prostate cancer risk (8, 183). Two studies associated consumption of vegetable protein and lower risk (44, 114). Soy products, consumed in greater amounts in low-risk Asian populations, may have beneficial effects on prostate cancer (109). However, this hypothesis has not been adequately tested in human and laboratory studies. Diets restricted in total protein and energy are associated with reduced growth of rat prostate tumors in association with reduced concentrations of serum androgens, growth hormone, and prolactin, as well as reduced density of prolactin receptors in prostate tissue (27). It is premature to make any judgment about the independent role of dietary protein concentration or source on prostate cancer risk.

Alcohol

The relationship between alcohol consumption and risk of prostate cancer has been evaluated in a series of studies. No strong evidence has emerged for an association (152, 163, 191, 189a).

Poultry, Meat, Fish, and Dairy Products

Reports of a correlation between diets rich in meat or dairy products and risk of prostate cancer are frequent (8, 47, 54, 75, 99, 111, 114, 163, 169, 174, 175, 183). The majority of cohort and case-control investigations of populations whose overall meat intake is high detect an increased risk associated with greater consumption. Initial cohort studies yielded conflicting results, but in several of the null studies long intervals occurred between dietary assessment and diagnosis of cancer, or they were based on relatively crude dietary measurements (75, 163). Two cohort studies of Seventh-Day Adventists (114, 169) found that men who consumed relatively large amounts of animal products were at greater risk of incident and fatal prostate cancer. Three recent cohort studies found similar positive associations between prostate cancer and the consumption of red meat (47, 54, 99), of total animal fat (54), and of fatty animal foods (99). In these later studies, dietary intake was assessed relatively shortly before diagnosis, mostly within 5 years, suggesting that diet may influence later stages of prostate carcinogenesis. Several of the studies observed a stronger association between meat and indicators of disease progression, such as higher stage, presence of metastases, and mortality (54, 183). Comparisons of diets high in animal fats or red meat showed an increased relative risk for prostate cancer approximately twofold over diets low in these products. Relative risk measurements of this magnitude, however, should be viewed with caution. High intake of red meat may be correlated with some other poorly understood component of lifestyle or diet that mediates the observed relationship. Potential mechanisms whereby meat products can directly alter risk are speculative. Until more definitive data are generated, consumption of 3 oz of meat (red meat, fish, and poultry) per day as part of a healthy diet in accordance with the current American guidelines defined in the food pyramid remains a reasonable guideline.

The impact of egg consumption on risk of prostate cancer has been examined in a series of cohort and case-control studies (75, 99, 114, 146, 169, 174, 186). The data are inconclusive.

A relationship between dairy products as a source of saturated fat and risk of prostate cancer has been detected in some studies (8, 95, 99, 111, 146, 163, 169, 174) but not in others (75, 114). In an analysis based on diet history conducted in Hawaii, there was a high correlation (r = 0.9) between intake of animal fat and saturated fat from meat and dairy products and incidence of prostate cancer (92). In regions of Italy, positive correlations were found between prostate cancer mortality, economic indicators such as gross national product (r = 0.72), and several dietary items, including per capita milk intake (r = 0.75) and cheese consumption (r = 0.69) (36, 112). The associations observed between milk and cheese intake and prostate cancer incidence persisted in multivariate analyses. A recent case-control study found positive associations between

saturated fat and prostate cancer risk among African-Americans, Caucasian-Americans, Chinese-Americans, and Japanese-Americans (186). The associations were particularly strong for advanced cancers, and the source of animal fat most strongly and consistently associated with high risk in the case-control studies was dairy products.

As reviewed above, consumption of diets high in animal fats, meats, or dairy products increases the relative risk of prostate cancer approximately twofold compared with diets low in these foods. But relative risks of this magnitude are suggestive, not firm proof of a causal association. Furthermore, diets rich in meat and dairy products often are also high in total fat and saturated fat. It is difficult to disentangle these interrelated variables, and perhaps other lifestyle factors, and obtain a clear representation of the risk associated with any one of these food items. To date, none of the mechanisms proposed to explain the association between animal fats, meats, and dairy products and risk of prostate cancer are convincing. It is possible some combination of total energy, macronutrient, and micronutrient intake associated with this dietary pattern underlies this relationship.

Vitamin E

Few studies have evaluated the role of vitamin E in risk of prostate cancer. A case-control study from Canada showed no relationship (145). Two nested case-control studies examined serum tocopherol concentrations relative to risk, with inconsistent results (66, 73). Prediagnostic blood vitamin E levels in American men were associated with lower risk in younger (<70 years old) men but higher risk in older men (73). A study in The Netherlands reported a nonsignificant decrease (RR = 0.6) in risk for those with serum levels in the highest quintile (66). The most provocative data are derived from a randomized interventional trial conducted in Finland among men at high risk of lung cancer (5a). A statistically significant inverse association between vitamin E supplementation and risk of prostate cancer was observed (5a). Additional studies are necessary: to investigate these relationships with men of differing ages, to define optimal intake via the diet or as supplements, and to explore how vitamin E may modulate risk.

Vitamin A

An adequate intake of vitamin A or retinol is necessary for normal growth and physiologic function of the prostate. With the recent identification and characterization of the vitamin A binding proteins and the retinoid receptors, the importance of vitamin A in the control of cellular differentiation and proliferation is beginning to be understood at the molecular level. Beginning over 40 years ago, studies reported that vitamin A deficiency in rodents will

produce a squamous metaplasia in the prostate (11). Histologic changes such as these are often thought to predispose a tissue to malignant transformation. In organ culture studies of prostate tissue, retinol was shown to reverse squamous metaplasia induced by treatment with chemical carcinogens (11, 97). Retinol binding proteins have also been reported in prostate cells (18, 50, 83). We recently reported vitamin A concentrations in the prostate at 1–3 nmol/g, which is within a range where biological effects have been observed in vitro (25). A recent in vitro study (129) showed that primary cultures of prostatic epithelial cells grown under serum-free conditions exhibit a biphasic growth response to vitamin A. Retinoic acid provided at 3-nm concentrations or greater was found to inhibit proliferation, whereas lower concentrations were stimulatory. A similarly biphasic growth response has been observed in organ culture of rat prostatic tissue for 13-cis-retinoic acid-stimulated prostate cellular proliferation and branching of ducts at lower concentrations but was reversibly inhibitory at higher concentrations. Furthermore, the synthetic retinoid N(4-hydroxyphenyl)retinamide (4HPR) was not effective in this model. Others have observed that the retinoids appear to inhibit testosterone-induced hyperplasia in mouse prostate explants (23). Although it remains to be clearly defined, it has been hypothesized that retinoic acid may influence the conversion of testosterone to DHT via 5- α -reductase (84) or the proliferative response to growth factors (22). 4HPR exhibits cytotoxic effects on cultured prostate cancer cells (132) and inhibits carcinogen- and androgen-induced prostate cancer (138) and ras- and myc-associated prostate cancer in a reconstitution model (168) but not spontaneous (120) prostate cancer in rodent models.

That vitamin A is a key factor regulating the growth and differentiation of normal and malignant prostate cells is indicated clearly in laboratory studies. In contrast, however, epidemiologic data is frequently conflicting or contradictory (108, 189a). Higher intake of vitamin A has been associated with a slightly increased risk of prostate cancer in some studies and lower risk in others (57, 58, 69, 73, 90, 145, 174, 183). Several investigations observed a greater risk of prostate cancer with lower serum concentrations of retinol (66, 73, 144). It is important to recognize that serum retinol concentrations are not linearly associated with dietary intake. Indeed, serum concentrations are under tight homeostatic control within a rather narrow range except at the extremes of intake. A clear picture for the role of vitamin A in prostate cancer has yet to emerge. Based on the human epidemiologic data and the laboratory studies, it is reasonable to postulate that vitamin A and related metabolites or synthetic retinoids can modulate prostate function and perhaps influence various steps in the progression of prostate cancer. However, much more work is needed relative to the prostate in order to unravel the complexities of vitamin A nutrition in free-living populations and the myriad potential interactions with other dietary factors, with genes controlling the steroid receptor superfamily, with genes controlling retinoid metabolism and degradation, and with the endocrine system.

Fruits, Vegetables, and Carotenoids

In contrast to the accumulated evidence for many other cancers affecting a diverse array of organs, overall consumption of fruits and vegetables has not shown a consistent reduction in risk of prostate cancer (14, 57, 75, 98, 114, 146, 159, 163, 164, 169, 174, 175, 189a). The role of β -carotene in prostate cancer has been the subject of several human studies but has not received attention in laboratory animal experiments. Estimated intake of β -carotene has been associated with increased risk (75, 98), decreased risk (75, 111, 119), or no effect (57, 75, 152) on human prostate cancer incidence or mortality. The positive association observed with β -carotene for prostate cancer risk in Hawaii was found to be entirely due to papaya intake (75, 98), not to other sources of β -carotene. The significance of this observation remains to be defined. Furthermore, a recent interventional trial showed no benefit from short-term β carotene supplementation on risk of prostate cancer (5a). β -Carotene is one of several carotenoids that can be metabolized to form vitamin A in mammals. Furthermore, the absorption, distribution, and metabolism of β -carotene and its conversion to vitamin A either in the liver or in peripheral tissues remains poorly understood (41, 123). We recently observed that prostate cancer cells in culture can convert β -carotene to retinol (AW Williams, T W-M Boileau, JR Zhou, SK Clinton, JW Erdman Jr, preliminary data). Furthermore, we recently reported the presence of β -carotene in the human prostate at concentrations that exceed retinol (25). Overall, the data suggest that a complex relationship may exist between retinoids and the pro-vitamin A carotenoids in the prostate cancer cascade. It is unlikely that human studies focusing on estimated intake of β -carotene and prostate cancer risk can answer our hypotheses. The many genetic and dietary covariables modulating the absorption, distribution, and biological activity of β -carotene, as well as its conversion to vitamin A, need to be elucidated before a clear understanding can emerge.

Over 600 different carotenoids have been characterized in nature, and only a small proportion can contribute to the vitamin A requirement (121). Approximately a dozen carotenoids account for the majority of dietary intake and are found in detectable concentrations in human blood or tissues (25, 158, 171). For example, lycopene is a predominant carotenoid in plasma and tissues of affluent populations (9, 86, 87). Lycopene, which cannot be converted to vitamin A, is the most efficient quencher of singlet oxygen among the common carotenoids (38). As data for content of lycopene and other major carotenoids in foods became available in recent years (106), epidemiologists began to examine the relationship between several carotenoids and risk of prostate cancer. For example,

carotenoid intake was assessed in a cohort of male health professionals in the United States (57). Estimated intake of β -carotene, α -carotene, lutein, and β -cryptoxanthin was not associated with risk of prostate cancer. In contrast, men in the highest quintile of estimated lycopene intake experienced a 21% lower risk. Over 80% of dietary lycopene intake in the United States is derived from tomato products whereas pink grapefruit, watermelon, guava, apricot, and papaya provide the remainder (106). Consumption of tomato sauce was the strongest predictor of lower prostate cancer risk in the cohort. Men consuming two or more servings per week have a 36% reduction in risk compared with men who rarely or never consume tomato sauce. In addition, consumption of tomatoes and pizza was associated with lower risk.

Additional epidemiologic data examining the association between tomatoes or lycopene intake and risk of prostate cancer also suggest a benefit. Tomato intake was the specific dietary factor most strongly related to lower risk of prostate cancer in a cohort study of Seventh-Day Adventists (114), and one case-control study found a nonsignificant inverse association between tomato intake and risk of prostate cancer (159). The only published study that examined prediagnostic serum carotenoids and risk of prostate cancer found an inverse association with lycopene, but not other carotenoids (73). That study included only 103 cases, and these associations were not statistically significant (73). Lycopene has the highest mean concentration of any carotenoid in the human prostate (25). Interestingly, approximately 18 different isomers of lycopene are detected in prostate tissue and at least 12 are found in serum (25). Cis isomers of lycopene account for the majority of tissue and circulating lycopene (25). The biological significance of isomer patterns remains to be defined. Overall, investigators should use caution in assuming that lycopene mediates a relationship between consumption of tomato products and lower risk of prostate cancer. Much is still to be learned about mechanisms of lycopene absorption, deposition in the prostate, local metabolism, factors modulating tissue concentrations, and biological properties that may inhibit the prostate cancer cascade. Interestingly, the sucrose polyester (Olestra) developed by the food industry as a fat substitute has been shown to reduce plasma lycopene concentrations (184).

Selenium

Selenium intake has been examined relative to the risk of many cancers, though little emphasis has been directed toward prostate cancer (189a). A recent study was designed to examine the effects of selenium supplementation on recurrence of skin cancer in a high-risk population (24). Selenium treatment did not influence the risk of skin cancer, although selenium-treated patients had a nonsignificant reduction in all-cause mortality and a significant reduction in total cancer mortality, as well as a lower risk of prostate cancer (24). Additional

studies are necessary to confirm a relationship with prostate cancer and further define mechanisms of action.

Calcium, Phosphorus, and Vitamin D

Calcium, phosphorus, and vitamin D are interacting components of a complex network of nutritional and endocrine pathways designed to maintain optimal concentrations of these critical elements within a tightly regulated internal environment. Few studies have addressed the interface between these components and the risk of prostate cancer. Vitamin D has been hypothesized to protect against prostate cancer based on both epidemiologic and laboratory evidence. Being of an African race and residing in northern latitudes (lower sunlight exposure) are factors potentially associated with lower serum levels of vitamin D and are related to an increased risk of prostate cancer (161). However, direct evidence regarding vitamin D intake or serum concentrations and prostate cancer risk is limited. Two recent studies based on stored blood samples found that men who had high levels of 1,25(OH)₂-vitamin D simultaneously with low levels of 25(OH)-vitamin D were at lowest risk of developing prostate cancer (33, 48). In particular, risk of anaplastic and palpable tumors was remarkably low in these studies when the concentration of 1,25(OH)₂-vitamin D was high. However, another study based on a limited number of cases found no association (19).

A protective role of 1,25(OH)₂-vitamin D, the physiologically active form of vitamin D, is also supported by evidence that prostate epithelial cells possess vitamin D receptors, and 1,25(OH)₂-vitamin D induces differentiation while inhibiting proliferation of established prostate cancer cell lines and in cultures of human prostate epithelial cells established from tissues (42, 72, 113, 128, 167). Analogues of 1,25(OH)₂-vitamin D have also been shown to possess a modest ability to alter the growth of implanted human prostate carcinoma cells in nude mice and in chemically induced, androgen-promoted prostate cancers in rats (104, 160).

Although the in vitro and animal data and the limited-but-promising human data are intriguing, no observational or intervention study has demonstrated that a higher intake of vitamin D from dietary or supplemental sources lowers risk of prostate cancer. On the contrary, consumption of dairy products, the major dietary source of vitamin D, frequently has been associated with a higher risk of prostate cancer in ecological, case-control, and cohort studies (see above). This seemingly paradoxical finding may be explained by the overall impact of diet on serum $1,25(OH)_2$ -vitamin D levels. $1,25(OH)_2$ -vitamin D is a highly regulated hormone responsive to fluctuations in serum calcium and phosphate and is not related to dietary vitamin D within normal ranges of dietary intake. Decreasing dietary calcium lowers plasma calcium levels, thereby stimulating the release of parathyroid hormone, which in turn increases the activity of $1-\alpha$ -hydroxylase in the kidney to convert 25(OH)-vitamin D to $1,25(OH)_2$ -vitamin D. Dairy

products are generally the major providers of dietary calcium. Thus, if high levels of 1,25(OH)₂-vitamin D are protective, high consumption of dairy products—by providing highly bioavailable calcium, which will tend to lower 1,25(OH)₂-vitamin D levels—may be deleterious.

Calcium intake is closely linked to vitamin D metabolism and inversely related to 1,25(OH)₂-vitamin D. Recent results from the Health Professionals Follow-up Study suggest that the consumption of calcium from dairy or nondairy sources, including supplements, is associated with an increased risk of aggressive prostate cancer (55a). These relationships have been confirmed in a Swedish case-control study. The relationship between calcium intake and prostate cancer was strongest among older men. Interestingly, aging is known to be associated with reduced calcium absorption, lower production of 25(OH)vitamin D, a decline in serum 1,25(OH)₂-vitamin D concentrations, reduced absorption of intestinal vitamin D, decreased conversion by renal hydroxylase of 25(OH)-vitamin D to 1,25(OH)₂-vitamin D, and a reduction in vitamin D receptors (182). In these studies, no effect was noted between dietary phosphorus and risk of prostate cancer. Phosphorus was examined because hypophosphatemia activates 1- α -hydroxylase to convert 25(OH)-vitamin D to 1,25(OH)₂vitamin D. Overall, the preliminary results of the Health Professionals study show that dietary vitamin D intake ranging from >150 to <800 IU/day showed no relationship to risk of prostate cancer. In contrast, higher consumption of calcium was associated with increased risk of aggressive or more advanced prostate cancer, with a threefold increase in risk for intakes >2 g/day compared with men consuming <500 mg/day. The relative risk was even greater when metastatic cancer or fatal cancer was considered. Calcium from both dairy and nondairy sources including dietary supplements independently increased risk. The surprising data suggesting a role of calcium intake in prostate cancer risk, particularly aggressive prostate cancer, are of enormous importance considering the recent increases in the recommended daily intake of calcium and the importance of calcium in maintaining health in aging individuals.

Overall, the evidence is accumulating that the calcium:phosphorus:vitamin D axis is a factor in prostate growth, differentiation, and risk of cancer. However, the mechanisms whereby these interacting components modulate risk, how they interface with many genetic polymorphisms involved in these pathways, and how we can develop dietary guidelines for these nutrients to maximize health and reduce risk of prostate cancer remain important questions.

SUMMARY

Current knowledge of prostate cancer risk does not provide definitive information for allowing confident recommendation of specific interventions for

prevention. However, the evidence is accumulating rapidly, and general guidelines and approaches will gradually emerge (6a, 189a). It is important for nutritional epidemiologists and laboratory scientists to integrate their concepts concerning diet into a broader understanding of the prostate cancer cascade. We recognize that prostate cancer is a slowly progressing disease that begins decades prior to diagnosis and may even be influenced by in utero exposures and factors active during puberty and adolescence. Data examining preadult dietary patterns and risk of prostate cancer are sparse. Premalignant lesions are observed in a significant portion of men in the third and fourth decades of life, years before prostate cancer is detected in the clinic. The high prevalence of "latent" prostate cancer compared with clinically significant disease suggests that dietary factors influencing the later stages of prostate cancer progression may be relevant to effective intervention. Indeed, many of the human studies suggest that diet is a key factor in the etiology of aggressive and lethal forms of prostate cancer, which further emphasizes the importance of investigating the role of diet in the biological processes involved in invasion and metastases. Interactions between diet, endocrine profiles, and prostate hormone receptor patterns and signal transduction remain poorly understood but are critical pathways for prostate cancer progression. The role of genetics in prostate cancer risk is just beginning to emerge and much is to be learned about how diet and nutrition may alter the penetrance of genes that modulate risk. Germ-line mutations and genetic polymorphisms that identify high-risk subgroups for early prostate cancer are beginning to be identified. The high-risk subgroups or other subgroups based on familial history of prostate cancer will allow us to select men for intervention studies that are highly motivated and will be compliant with specific dietary interventions. The success of intervention studies will be enhanced by the development and characterization of surrogate markers for nutrient intake and their biological effects. Although few rodent models for prostate cancer have been established, molecular techniques are allowing investigators to develop new murine systems with specific genetic lesions relevant to human disease. Animal models allow nutritional scientists to investigate, under precisely controlled conditions, many of the complex hypotheses generated by prospective and case-control human studies. Prostate cancer is a disease of multifactorial etiology and the key to understanding the progression and defining prevention programs will be found through multidisciplinary interactive research efforts involving epidemiologists, nutritional scientists, and cell or molecular biologists.

> Visit the Annual Reviews home page at http://www.AnnualReviews.org.

Literature Cited

- Ahluwalia B, Jackson MA, Jones GW, Williams AO, Rao MS, Rajgurus S. 1981. Blood hormone profiles in prostate cancer patients in high risk and low risk populations. Cancer 48:2267–73
- Akazaki K, Stemmermann GN. 1973. Comparative study of latent carcinoma of the prostate among Japanese in Japan and Hawaii. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 50:1137–44
- Albanes D, Blair A, Taylor PR. 1989. Physical activity and risk of cancer in the NHANES I population. Am. J. Public Health 79:744–50
- Albanes D, Jones DY, Schatzkin A, Micozzi MS, Taylor PR. 1988. Adult stature and risk of cancer. Cancer Res. 48:1658– 62
- Albanes D, Taylor PR. 1990. International differences in body height and weight and their relationship to cancer incidence. *Nutr. Cancer* 14:69–77
- Alpha-Tocopherol, Beta-Carotene Cancer Prev. Study Group. 1994. The effect of vitamin E and beta carotene on the incidence of lung cancer and other cancers in male smokers. N. Engl. J. Med. 330:1029–35
- Amatrauda JM, Harman SM, Pourmotabbed G, Lockwood DH. 1978. Decreased plasma testosterone and fractional binding of testosterone in obese males. *Endocrinol. Metab.* 47:268–71
- 6a. Am. Cancer Soc. Advis. Comm. Diet Nutr. Cancer Prev. 1996. Guidelines of diet, nutrition, and cancer prevention: reducing the risk of cancer with healthy food choices and physical activity. CA Cancer J. Clin. 46:325–41
- Andersson S-O, Baron J, Wolk A, Lindgren C, Bergstron R, Adami H-O. 1995. Early life risk factors for prostate cancer: a population-based case-control study in Sweden. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 4:187–92
- Armstrong B, Doll R. 1975. Environmental factors and cancer incidence and mortality in different countries, with special reference to dietary practices. *Int. J. Can.* 15:617–31
- Ascherio A, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Rimm EB, Litin L, Willett WC. 1992. Correlations of vitamin A and E intakes with the plasma concentrations of carotenoids and tocopherols among men and women. J. Nutr. 122:1792–801
- Barrett-Connor E, Kwat KT. 1987. Cigarette smoking and increased endogenous

- estrogen levels in men. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 126:187–92
- Bern HA. 1952. Alkaline phosphatase activity in epithelial metaplasia. *Cancer Res.* 12:85–91
- Berry SJ, Coffey DS, Walsh PC, Ewing LR. 1984. The development of human benign prostatic hyperplasia with age. J. Urol. 132:474–79
- Blair A, Zahm SH. 1991. Cancer among farmers. Occup. Med. 6:335–54
- Block G, Patterson B, Subar A. 1992. Fruit, vegetables, and cancer prevention: a review of the epidemiological evidence. *Nutr. Cancer* 18:1–29
- Bosland MD. 1988. The etiopathogenesis of prostatic cancer with special reference to environmental factors. Adv. Cancer Res. 51:1–106
- Bostwick DG. 1995. High grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia. *Cancer* 75:1823–36
- Bostwick DG. 1997. Evaluating prostate needle biopsy: therapeutic and prognosic importance. CA Cancer J. Clin. 47: 297–19
- Boyd D, Beynon L, Chisholm GD, Habib FK. 1984. Characterization of the retinol and retinoic acid binding proteins in the human prostate. *Cancer Res.* 44:5532–37
- Braun MM, Helzlsouer KJ, Hollis BW, Comstock GW. 1995. Prostate cancer and prediagnostic levels of serum vitamin D metabolites (Maryland, United States). Cancer Causes Control 6:235– 39
- Brownson RC, Chang JC, Davis JR, Smith CA. 1991. Physical activity on the job and cancer in Missouri. Am. J. Public Health 81:639–42
- Carroll KK, Kohr HT. 1975. Dietary fat in relation to tumorigenesis. *Prog. Biochem. Pharmacol.* 10:308–53
- Chan JM, Stampfer MJ, Giovannucci E, Gann PH, Ma J, et al. 1998. Plasma insulin-like growth factor-I and prostate cancer risk: a prospective study. *Science* 279:563–65
- Chaproniere DM, Webber MM. 1985. Dexamethasone and retinyl acetate similarly inhibit and stimulate EGF- or insulin-induced proliferation of prostatic epithelium. J. Cell. Physiol. 122:249–53
- Chopra DP, Wilkoff LJ. 1979. Effect of retinoids and estrogens on testosteroneinduced hyperplasia of mouse prostate

- explants in organ culture. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* 162:229–34
- Clark LC, Combs GF, Turnbull BW, Slate EH, Chalker DK, et al. 1996. Effects of selenium supplementation for cancer prevention in patients with carcinoma of the skin. A randomized controlled trial. Nutritional Prevention of Cancer Study Group. *JAMA* 276:1957– 63
- Clinton SK, Emenhiser C, Schwartz SJ, Bostwick DG, Williams AW, et al. 1996. Cis-trans Lycopene isomers, carotenoids, and retinol in the human prostate. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 5: 823–33
- Clinton SK, Giovannucci E. 1997. Nutrition in the etiology and prevention of cancer. In *Cancer Medicine*, ed. JF Holland, E Frei, BC Bast, DW Kufe, DL Morton, RR Weichselbaum, pp. 465–94. Philadelphia: Williams & Wilkins
- Clinton SK, Mulloy AL, Li SP, Mangian HJ, Visek WJ. 1997. Dietary fat and protein intake differ in modulation of prostate tumor growth, prolactin secretion and metabolism, and prostate gland prolatin binding capacity in rats. *J. Nutr.* 127:225–37
- Clinton SK, Palmer SS, Spriggs CE, Visek WJ. 1988. The growth of Dunning transplantable prostate adenocarcinomas in rats fed diets varying in fat content. J. Nutr. 118:1577–85
- Coetzee GA, Ross RK. 1994. Re: Prostate cancer and the androgen receptor. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 86:872–73
- Cohen P, Peehl DM, Graves HCB, Rosenfeld RG. 1994. Biological effects of prostate specific antigen (PSA) as an IGF binding protein-3 (IGFBP-3) protease. J. Endocrinol. 142:407–15
- Cohen P, Peehl CM, Lamson G, Rosenfeld RG. 1991. Insulin-like growth factors (IGFs), IGF receptors and IGF binding proteins in primary cultures of prostate epithelial cells. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metabol. 73:401–7
- Conger KB. 1947. Racial incidence of prostatism in Hawaii—a report of 172 consecutive cases. J. Urol. 58:444– 47
- Corder EH, Guess HA, Hulka BS, Friedman GD, Sadler M, et al. 1993. Vitamin
 D and prostate cancer: a prediagnostic study with stored sera. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 2:467–72
- Coughlin SS, Neaton JD, Sengupta A. 1996. Cigarette smoking as a predictor of death from prostate cancer in 348,874 men screened for the Multiple Risk Fac-

- tor Intervention Trial. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 143:1002–6
- Daniell HW. 1995. A worse prognosis for smokers with prostate cancer. *J Urol*. 154:153–57
- Decarli A, La Vecchia C. 1986. Environmental factors and cancer mortality in Italy: correlational exercise. *Oncol*ogy 43:116–26
- Devesa SS, Silverman DT. 1978. Cancer incidence and mortality trends in the United States: 1935–74. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 60:545–71
- DiMascio P, Kaiser S, Sies H. 1989.
 Lycopene as the most efficient biological carotenoid singlet oxygen quencher.
 Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 274:1–7
- Dunn SE, Kari FW, French J, Leininger JR, Travols G, et al. 1997. Dietary restriction reduces insulin-like growth factor-1 levels which modulates apoptosis, cell proliferation, and tumor progression in p53 deficient mice. Cancer Res. 57:4667–72
- Ellis L, Nyborg H. 1992. Racial/ethnic variations in male testosterone levels: a probable contributor to group differences in health. Steroids 57:72–75
- Erdman JW Jr, Bierer TL, Gugger ET. 1993. Absorption and transport of carotenoids. In *Carotenoids in Human Health*, ed. LM Canfield, NI Krinsky, JA Olson, 691:76–85. New York: NY Acad. Sci.
- Esquenet M, Swinnen JV, Heyns W, Verhoeven G. 1996. Control of LNCaP proliferation and differentiation: actions and interactions of androgens, 1alpha,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol, alltrans retinoic acid, 9-cis retinoic acid, and phenylacetate. Prostate 28:182–94
- 43. Field AE, Colditz GA, Willett WC, Longcope C, McKinlay JB. 1994. The relation of smoking, age, relative weight, and dietary intake to serum adrenal steroids, sex hormones, and sex hormone-binding globulin in middle-aged men. J. Clin. Endo. Metab. 79:1310–16
- Fincham SM, Hill GB, Hanson J, Wijayasinghe C. 1990. Epidemiology of prostatic cancer: a case-control study. *Prostate* 17:189–206
- Deleted in proof
- Gann PH, Hennekens CH, Ma J, Longcope C, Stampfer MJ. 1996. A prospective study of sex hormone levels and risk of prostate cancer. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 88:1118–26
- Gann PH, Hennekens CH, Sacks FM, Grodstein F, Giovannucci E, Stampfer MJ. 1994. A prospective study of plasma

- fatty acids and risk of prostate cancer. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 86:281–86
- Gann PH, Ma J, Hennekens CH, Hollis BW, Haddad JG, Stampfer MJ. 1996. Circulating vitamin D metabolites in relation to subsequent development of prostate cancer. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 5:212–16
- Garn SM, Leonard WR, Hawthorne VM. 1986. Three limitations of the body mass index. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 44:996–97
- Gesell MS, Brandes MJ, Arnold EA, Isaacs JT, Ueda H, et al. 1982. Retinoic acid binding protein in normal and neoplastic rat prostate. *Prostate* 3:131–38
- Ghadirian P, Lacroix A, Maisonneuve P, Perret C, Drouin G, et al. 1996. Nutritional factors and prostate cancer: a case-control study of French Canadians in Montreal, Canada. Cancer Causes Control 7:428–36
- Ghanadian R, Puah CM, O'Donoghue EP. 1979. Serum testosterone and hihydrotestosterone in carcinoma of the prostate. Br. J. Cancer 39:696–99
- Giovannucci E, Ascherio A, Rimm EB, Colditz G, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC. 1993. A prospective cohort study of vasectomy and prostate cancer in U.S. men. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 269:873–77
- Giovannucci E, Rimm EB, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Ascherio A, et al. 1993. A prospective study of dietary fat and risk of prostate cancer. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 85:1571–79
- Giovannucci E, Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Willett WC. 1997. Height, body weight, and risk of prostate cancer. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 6:557–63
- Giovannucci E, Rimm EB, Wolk A, Ascherio A, Stampfer MJ, et al. 1998.
 Calcium and fructose intake in relation to risk of prostate cancer. Cancer Res. 58:442–47
- Giovannucci E, Stampfer MJ, Krithivas K, Brown M, Brufsky A, et al. 1997. The CAG repeat within the androgen receptor gene and its relationship to prostate cancer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94:3320–23
- Giovannucci EL, Ascherio A, Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Willett WC. 1995. Intake of carotenoids and retinol in relationship to risk of prostate cancer. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 87:1767–76
- Graham S, Haughey B, Marshall J, Priore R, Byers T, et al. 1983. Diet in the epidemiology of carcinoma of the prostate gland. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 70: 687–92

- Greenwald P, Damon A, Kirmiss V, Poland AL. 1974. Physical activity and demographic features of men before developing cancer of the prostate. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 53:341–46
- Gronberg H, Damber L, Damber JE. 1994. Studies of genetic factors in prostate cancer in a twin population. *J. Urol.* 152:1484–89
- 61. Deleted in proof
- Guileyardo JM, Johnson WD, Welsh RA, Akazaki K, Correa P. 1980. Prevalence of latent prostate carcinoma in two U.S. populations. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 65:311–16
- Haas GP, Sakr WA. 1997. Epidemiology of prostate cancer. CA Cancer J. Clin. 47:273–87
- Hackney AC, Sinning WE, Bruot BC. 1988. Reproductive hormonal profiles of endurance-trained and untrained males. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 20:60–65
- Haenszel W, Kurihara M. 1968. Studies of Japanese migrants. I. Mortality from cancer and other diseases among Japanese in the United States. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 40:43–68
- Hayes RB, Bogdanovicz JFAT, Schroeder FH, De Bruijn A, Raatgever JW, et al. 1988. Serum retinol and prostate cancer. Cancer 62:2021–26
- Hebert PR, Ajani U, Cook NR, Lee IM, Chan KS, Hennekens CH. 1997. Adult height and incidence of cancer in male physicians. Cancer Causes Control 8:591–97
- Henderson BE, Bernstein L, Ross RK, Depue RH, Judd HL. 1988. The early in utero oestrogen and testosterone environment of blacks and whites: potential effects on male offspring. Br. J. Cancer 57:216–18
- Heshmat MY, Kaul L, Kovi J. 1985.
 Nutrition and prostate cancer: a casecontrol study. *Prostate* 6:7–17
- Hill P, Wynder EL, Garbaczewski L, Garnes H, Walker AR. 1979. Diet and urinary steroids in black and white North American men and black South African men. Cancer Res. 39:5101–5
- Hirayama T. 1979. Epidemiology of prostate cancer with special reference to the role of diet. *Natl. Cancer Inst. Monogr.* 53:149–55
- Hsieh T-C, Ng C-Y, Mallouh C, Tazaki H, Wu JM. 1996. Regulation of growth, PSA/PAP and androgen receptor expression by a-alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in androgen-dependent LNCaP cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 223: 141–46

- Hsing AW, Comstock GW, Abbey H, Polk BR. 1990. Serologic precursors of cancer. Retinol, carotenoids, and tocopherol and risk of prostate cancer. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 82:941–46
- Hsing AW, Mclaughlin JK, Hrubec Z, Blot WJ, Fraumeni JF. 1991. Tobacco use and prostate cancer: 26 year followup of US veterans. Am. J. Epidemiol. 133:437–41
- Hsing AW, Mclaughlin JK, Schulman LM, Bjelke E, Gridley G, et al. 1990. Diet, tobacco use, and fatal prostate cancer: results from the Lutheran Brotherhood cohort study. *Cancer Res.* 50: 6836–40
- Hsing AW, McLaughlin JK, Zheng W, Gao Y-T, Blot WJ. 1994. Occupational, physical activity, and risk of prostate cancer in Shanghai, People's Republic of China. Cancer Causes Control 5:136– 40
- Huggins C, Clark PJ. 1940. Quantitative studies on prostatic secretion. II. The effect of castration and of estrogen injection on the normal and on the hyperplastic prostate glands of dogs. *J. Exp. Med.* 72:747–61
- Huggins C, Hodges CV. 1941. Studies on prostatic cancer. I. The effect of castration, of estrogen and of androgen injection on serum phosphastases in metastatic carcinoma of the prostate. Cancer Res. 1:293–97
- Hursting SD, Switzer BR, French JE, Kari FW. 1993. The growth hormone:insulin-like growth factor 1 axis is a mediator of diet restriction-induced inhibition of mononuclear cell leukemia. Cancer Res. 53:2750–57
- Hursting SD, Thornquist M, Henderson MM. 1990. Types of dietary fat and the incidence of cancer at 5 sites. *Prev. Med.* 19:242–53
- Hussain F, Aziz H, Macchia R, Avitable M, Rotman M. 1992. High grade adenocarcinoma of prostate in smokers of ethnic minority groups and Caribbean island immigrants. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol.* 24:451–61
- Isley WL, Underwood LE, Clemmons DR. 1983. Dietary components that regulate serum somatomedin-C in humans. J. Clin. Invest. 71:175–82
- Jutley JK, Kelleher J, Whelan P, Mikel J. 1987. Cytosolic retinoic acid-binding protein in human prostatic dysplasia and neoplasia. *Prostate* 11:127–32
- Jutley JK, Reaney S, Kelleher J, Whelan P. 1990. Interactions of retinoic acid and androgens in human prostatic tissue.

- Prostate 16:299-304
- Kantoff PW, Febbo PG, Giovannucci E, Krithivas K, Dahl DM, et al. 1997. A polymorphism of the 5α-reductase gene and its association with prostate cancer: a case-control analysis. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 6:189–92
- Kaplan LA, Lau JM, Stein EA. 1990. Carotenoid composition, concentrations, and relationships in various human organs. Clin. Physiol. Biochem. 8:1–10
- Kaplan LA, Stein EA, Willett WC, Stampfer MJ, Stryker WS. 1987. Reference ranges of retinol, tocopherols, lycopene and alpha- and beta-carotene in plasma by simultaneous high-performance liquid chromatographic analyses. Clin. Physiol. Biochem. 5:297–304
- Karmali RA, Reichel P, Cohen LA, Terano T, Hirai A, et al. 1987. The effects of dietary w-3 fatty acids on the DU145 transplantable human prostatic tumor. Anticancer Res. 7:1173–80
- Kaul L, Heshmat MY, Kovi J, Jackson MA, Jackson AG, et al. 1987. The role of diet in prostate cancer. *Nutr. Cancer* 9:123–28
- Kolonel L, Hankin JH, Yoshizawa CN. 1987. Vitamin A and prostate cancer in elderly men: enhancement of risk. Cancer Res. 47:2982–85
- 91. Kolonel LN. 1996. Nutrition and prostate cancer. *Cancer Causes Control* 7: 83–94
- Kolonel LN, Hankin JH, Lee J, Chu SY, Nomura A, Hinds M. 1981. Nutrient intakes in relation to cancer incidence in Hawaii. Br. J. Cancer 44:332–339
- Kolonel LN, Yoshizawa CN, Hankin JH. 1988. Diet and prostate cancer: a casecontrol study in Hawaii. Am. J. Epidemiol. 127:999–1012
- Kondo Y, Homma Y, Aso Y, Kakizoe T. 1994. Promotional effect of twogeneration exposure to a high-fat diet on prostate carcinogenesis in ACI/Seg rats. Cancer Res. 23:6129–32
- La Vecchia C, Nagri E, D'Avanzo B, Franceschi S, Boyle P. 1991. Diary products and risk of prostate cancer. *Oncol*ogy 48:406–10
- La Vecchia C, Negri E, Parazzini F, Boyle P, D'Avanzo B, et al. 1990. Height and cancer risk in a network of casecontrol studies from northern Italy. *Int.* J. Cancer 45:275–79
- Lasnitzki I. 1955. The influence of a hypervitaminosis on the effect of 20methylcholanthrene on mouse prostate glands grown in vitro. *Br. J. Cancer* 9: 434–41

- Le Marchand L, Hankin JH, Kolonel LN, Wilkins LR. 1991. Vegetable and fruit consumption in relation to prostate cancer risk in Hawaii: a reevaluation of the effect of dietary beta-carotene. Am. J. Epidemiol. 133:215–19
- Le Marchand L, Kolonel LN, Wilkins LR, Myers BC, Hirohata T. 1994. Animal fat consumption and prostate cancer: a prospective study in Hawaii. *Epi*demiology 5:276–82
- Le Marchand L, Kolonel LN, Yoshizawa CN. 1991. Lifetime occupational physical activity and prostate cancer risk. Am. J. Epidemiol. 133:103–11
- Lee IM, Paffenbarger RS Jr, Hsieh CC. 1992. Physical activity and risk of prostatic cancer among college alumni. Am. J. Epidemiol. 135:169–75
- LeRoith D, Baserga R, Helman L, Roberts CT Jr. 1995. Insulin-like growth factors and cancer. Ann. Intern. Med. 122:54–59
- Lew EA, Garfinkel L. 1979. Variations in mortality by weight among 750,000 men and women. J. Chronic Dis. 32:563–78
- 104. Lucia MS, Anzano MA, Slayter MV, Anver MR, Green DM, et al. 1995. Chemopreventive activity of tamoxifen, N-(4-hydroxyphenyl)retinamide, and the vitamin D analogue. Cancer Res. 55: 5621–27
- Lyon JL, Gardner JW, Klauber MR. 1977. Low cancer incidence and mortality in Utah. Cancer 39:2608–18
- Mangels AR, Holden JM, Beecher GR, Forman M, Lanza E. 1993. Carotenoid content of fruits and vegetables: an evaluation of analytic data. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 93:284–96
- Matzkin H, Soloway MS. 1993. Cigarette smoking: a review of possible associations with benign prostatic hyperplasia and prostate cancer. *Prostate* 22:277–90
- Mayne ST, Graham S, Zheng T. 1991. Dietary retinol: prevention or promotion of carcinogenesis in humans? *Cancer Causes Control* 2:443–50
- Messina MJ, Persky V, Setchell KD, Barnes S. 1994. Soy intake and cancer risk: a review of the in vitro and in vivo data. Nutr. Cancer 21:113–31
- Mettlin C. 1980. Nutritional habits of blacks and whites. Prev. Med. 9:601–6
- Mettlin C, Selenskas S, Natarajan N, Huben R. 1989. Beta-carotene and animal fats and their relationship to prostate cancer risk. A case-control study. *Can*cer 64:605–12
- 112. Mezzanotte G, Cislaghi C, Decarli A,

- La Vecchia C. 1986. Cancer mortality in broad Italian geographic areas, 1975–77. *Tumori* 72:145–52
- 113. Miller GJ, Stapleton GE, Hedlund TE, Moffatt KA. 1995. Vitamin D receptor expression, 24-hydroxylase activity, and inhibition of growth by 1-alpha,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 in seven human prostatic carcinoma cell lines. Clin. Cancer Res. 1:997–1003
- 114. Mills PK, Beeson WL, Phillips RL, Fraser GE. 1989. Cohort study of diet, lifestyle, and prostate cancer in Adventist men. *Cancer* 64:598–604
- Mishina T, Wantanabe H, Araki H, Nakao M. 1985. Epidemiological study of prostatic cancer by matched-pair analysis. *Prostate* 6:423–36
- Morton RA. 1994. Racial differences in adenocarcinoma of the prostate in North American men. *Urology* 44:637–45
- 117. Murphy WM, Dean PJ, Brasfield JA, Tatum L. 1986. Incidental carcinoma of the prostate. How much sampling is adequate? Am. J. Surg. Pathol. 10:170–74
- Nomura A, Kolonel L. 1991. Prostate cancer: a current perspective. *Epide-miol. Rev.* 13:200–26
- Ohno Y, Yoshida O, Oishi K, Okada K, Yamabe H, Schroeder FH. 1988. Dietary beta-carotene and cancer of the prostate: a case-control study in Kyoto, Japan. Cancer Res. 48:1331–36
- 120. Ohshima M, Ward JM, Wenk ML. 1985. Preventive and enhancing effects of retinoids on the development of naturally occurring tumors of skin, prostate gland, and endocrine pancreas in aged male ACI/segHapBR rats. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 74:517–24
- Olson JA, Krinsky N. 1995. Introduction: the colorful, fascinating world of the carotenoids: important physiologic modulators. FASEB J. 9:1547–50
- 122. Paffenbarger RS Jr, Hyde RT, Wing AL. 1987. Physical activity and incidence of cancer in diverse populations: a preliminary report. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 45(Suppl):312–17
- Parker RS. 1996. Absorption, metabolism, and transport of carotenoids. FASEB J. 10:542–51
- Parker SL, Tong T, Bolden S, Wingo PA. 1997. Cancer Statistics, 1997. CA Cancer J. Clin. 47:5–27
- Parkin DM, Muir CS, Whelan SL, Gao YT, Ferlay J, Powell J. 1992. Cancer Incidence in Five Continents, vol. VI. Lyon, France: Int. Agency Res. Cancer
- 126. Parkin DM, Pisani P, Ferlay J. 1993. Estimates of the worldwide incidence of

- eighteen major cancers in 1985. *Int. J. Cancer* 54:594–606
- 127. Pasquali R, Casimirri F, Cantobelli S, Melchionda N, Morselli-Labate AM, et al. 1991. Effect of obesity and body fat distribution on sex hormones and insulin in men. *Metabolism* 40:101–4
- Peehl DM, Skowronski RJ, Leung GK, Wong ST, Stamey TA, Feldman D. 1994. Antiproliferative effects of 1,25dihydrixyvitamin D3 on primary cultures of human prostatic cells. *Cancer Res.* 54:805–10
- Peehl DM, Wong ST, Stamey TA. 1993. Vitamin A regulates proliferation and differentiation of human prostatic epithelial cells. *Prostate* 23:69–78
- Phillips RL. 1975. Role of life-style and dietary habits in risk of cancer among Seventh-Day Adventists. *Cancer Res.* 35:3513–22
- 131. Phillips RL, Snowdon DA. 1983. Association of meat and coffee use with cancer of the large bowel, breast, and prostate among Seventh-Day Adventists: preliminary results. Cancer Res. 43:2403–8s
- Pienta KJ, Nguyen NM, Lehr JE. 1993. Treatment of prostate cancer in the rat with the synthetic retinoid fenretinide. *Cancer Res.* 53:224–26
- Pienta KT, Demers R, Hoff M, Kau TY, Montie JE, Severson RK. 1995. Effect of age and race on the survival of men with prostate cancer in the metropolitan Detroit tricounty area, 1973–87. *Urology* 45:93–102
- Polednak AP. 1976. College athletics, body size, and cancer mortality. *Cancer* 38:382–87
- Polednak AP. 1990. Cancer mortality in a higher-income black population in New York State: comparison with rates in the United States as a whole. Cancer 66:1654–60
- Pollard M, Luckert PH. 1985. Promotional effects of testosterone and dietary fat on prostate carcinogenesis in genetically susceptible rats. *Prostate* 6:1–5
- Pollard M, Luckert PH. 1986. Promotional effects of testosterone and high fat diet on the development of autochthonous prostate cancer in rats. Cancer Lett. 32:223–27
- Pollard M, Luckert PH, Sporn MB. 1991. Prevention of primary prostate cancer in Lobund-Wistar rats by N-(4hydroxyphenyl)retinamide. *Cancer Res.* 51:3610–11
- Potosky AL, Kessler L, Gridley G, Brown CC, Harm JW. 1990. Rise in pro-

- static cancer incidence associated with increased use of transurethral resection. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 82:1624–28
- 140. Pour PM, Groot K, Kazakoff K, Anderson K, Schally AV. 1991. Effects of high-fat diet on the patterns of prostatic cancer induced in rats by n-nitrosobis(2-oxopropyl)amine and testosterone. Cancer Res. 51:4757–61
- Powell IJ. 1997. Prostate cancer and African-American men. Oncology 11:599–605
- 142. Powell IJ, Schwartz K, Hussain M. 1995. Removal of the financial barrier to health care: Does it impact on prostate cancer at presentation and survival? A comparative study between black and white men in a Veterans affairs system. *Urol*ogy 46:825–30
- 143. Qian J, Bostwick DG. 1995. The extent and zonal location of prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia and atypical adenomatous hyperplasia: relationship with carcinoma in radical prostatectomy specimens. *Pathol. Res. Pract.* 191:860–67
- 144. Reichman ME, Hayes RB, Zeigler RG, Schatzkin A, Taylor PR, et al. 1990. Serum vitamin A and subsequent development of prostate cancer in the first national health and nutrition examination survey epidemiologic follow-up study. Cancer Res. 50:2311–15
- Rohan TE, Howe GR, Burch JD, Jain M. 1995. Dietary factors and risk of prostate cancer: a case-control study in Ontario Canada. Cancer Causes Control 6:145– 54
- 146. Rose DP, Boyer AP, Wynder EL. 1986. International comparisons of mortality rates for cancer of the breast, ovary, prostate, and colon, and per capita food consumption. *Cancer* 58:2363–71
- 147. Rose DP, Cohen LA. 1988. Effects of dietary menhaden oil and retinyl acetate on the growth of DU 145 human prostatic adenocarcinoma cells transplanted into athymic nude mice. *Carcinogenesis* 9:603–5
- 148. Rose DP, Connolly JM. 1991. Effects of fatty acids and eicosanoid synthesis inhibitors on the growth of two human prostate cancer cell lines. *Prostate* 18:243–54
- 149. Ross RK, Bernstein L, Judd H, Hanisch R, Pike MC, Henderson BE. 1986. Serum testosterone levels in young black and white men. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 76: 45–48
- Ross RK, Coetzee GA, Reichardt J, Skinner E, Henderson BE. 1995. Does the racial-ethnic variation in prostate

- cancer risk have a hormonal basis. *Cancer* 75:1778–82
- Ross RK, McCurtis JW, Henderson BE, Menck HR, Mack TM, Martin SP. 1979.
 Descriptive epidemiology of testicular and prostatic cancer in Los Angeles. Br. J. Cancer 39:284–92
- Ross RK, Shimizu H, Paganini-Hill A, Honda G, Henderson BE. 1987. Casecontrol studies of prostate cancer in Blacks and Whites in Southern California. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 78:869–74
- Rotkin ID. 1977. Studies in the epidemiology of prostatic cancer: expanded sampling. Cancer Treat. Rep. 61:173–80
- Sakr W, Grignon D, Haas G, Schomer K, Heilburn L, et al. 1995. Epidemiology of high grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia. *Pathol. Res. Pract.* 191:838–41
- Sakr WA, Haas GP, Cassin BF, Pontes FE, Crissman JD. 1993. The frequency of carcinoma and intraepithelial neoplasia of the prostate in young male patients. J. Urol. 150:379–85
- Sakr WA, Haas GP, Cassin BJ, Pontes JE, Crissman JD. 1993. The frequency of prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia and invasive carcinoma in young males. J. Urol. 150:379–85
- 157. Sakr WA, Haas GP, Grignon DJ, Heilbrun LK, Cassin BJ, et al. 1994. High grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (HGPIN) and prostatic adenocarcinoma between the ages of 20–69: an autopsy study of 249 cases. *In Vivo* 8:439–44
- Schmitz HH, Poor CL, Wellman RB, Erdman JW Jr. 1991. Concentrations of selected carotenoids and vitamin A in human liver, kidney and lung tissue. J. Nutr. 121:1613–21
- 159. Schuman LM, Mandel JS, Radke A, Seal U, Halberg F. 1982. Some selected features of the epidemiology of prostatic cancer: Minneapolis-St.Paul, Minnesota, case-control study, 1976–79. In Trends in Cancer Incidence: Causes and Practical Implications, ed. K Magnus, pp. 345–00. Washington, DC: Hemisphere
- Schwartz GG, Hill CC, Oeler TA, Becich MJ, Bahnson RR. 1995. 1,25-Dihydroxy-16-ene-23-yne-vitamin D3 and prostate cancer cell proliferation in vivo. Urology 46:365–69
- Schwartz GG, Hulka BS. 1990. Is vitamin D deficiency a risk factor for prostate cancer? *Anticancer Res.* 10:1307–11
- Severson RK, Grove JS, Nomura AM. 1988. Body mass and prostatic cancer: a prospective study. *Br. Med. J.* 297:713– 15

- 163. Severson RK, Nomura AMY, Grove JS, Stemmermann GN. 1989. A prospective study of demographics, diet, and prostate cancer among men of Japanese ancestry in Hawaii. *Cancer Res.* 49: 1857–60
- 164. Shibata A, Paganini-Hill A, Ross RK, Henderson BE. 1992. Intake of vegetables, fruits, beta-carotene, vitamin C and vitamin supplements and cancer indicence among the elderly: a prospective study. Br. J. Cancer 66:673–79
- 165. Shirai T, Yamamoto A, Iwasaki S, Tamano S, Masui T. 1991. Induction of invasive carcinomas of the seminal vesicles and coagulating glands of F344 rats by administration of N-methylnitrosourea or N-nitrosobis(2-oxopropyl)amine and testosterone. Carcinogenesis 12:2169–73
- Shiraishi T, Watanabe M, Matsuura H, Kusano I, Yatani R, Stemmerman GN. 1994. The frequency of latent prostate carcinoma in young males: the Japanese experience. *In vivo* 8:445–47
- 167. Skowronski RJ, Peehl DM, Feldman D. 1993. Vitamin D and prostate cancer: 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin d3 receptors and actions in human prostate cancer cell lines. *Endocrinology* 132:1952–60
- 168. Slawin K, Kadom D, Park SH, Scardino PT, Anzano M, et al. 1993. Dietary fenretinide, a synthetic retinoid, decreases the tumor incidence and the tumor mass of ras+myc-induced carcinomas in the mouse prostate reconstitution model system. *Cancer Res.* 53:4461–65
- Snowdon DA, Phillips RL, Choi W. 1984. Diet, obesity, and risk of fatal prostate cancer. Am. J. Epidemiology 120:244–50
- 170. Deleted in proof
- Stahl W, Sies H. 1996. Lycopene: a biologically important carotenoid for humans? Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 336:1–
- Staszewski W, Haenszel W. 1965. Cancer mortality among the Polish-born in the United States. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 35:291–97
- 173. Strauss RH, Laness RR, Malarkey WB. 1985. Weight loss in amateur wrestlers and its effect on serum testosterone levels. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 254:3337–38
- 174. Talamini R, Franceschi S, La Vecchia C, Serraino D, Barra S, Negri E. 1992. Diet and prostatic cancer: a case-control study in northern Italy. Nutr. Cancer 18:277–86
- Talamini R, Lavecchia C, Decarli A, Negri E, Francechi S. 1986. Nutrition,

- social factors, and prostatic cancer in a Northern Italian population. *Br. J. Cancer* 53:817–21
- Thompson MM, Garland C, Barrett-Connor E, Khaw K, Friedlander NJ, Wingard DL. 1989. Heart disease risk factors, diabetes and prostatic cancer in an adult community. Am. J. Epidemiol. 129:511–17
- Thune I, Lund E. 1994. Physical activity and the risk of prostate and testicular cancer: a cohort study of 53,000 Norwegian men. Cancer Causes Control 5:549–56
- Tibbin G, Eriksson M, Cnattingius S, Ekbom A. 1995. High birthweight as a predictor of prostate cancer risk. *Epi-demiology* 6:423–24
- Van der Gulden JW, Kolk JJ, Verbeek AL. 1992. Prostate cancer and work environment. J. Occup. Med. 34:402–09
- Vena JE, Graham S, Zielezny M, Brasure J, Swanson MK. 1987. Occupational exercise and risk of cancer. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 45:318–27S
- 181. Wang Y, Corr JG, Thaler HT, Tao Y, Fair WR, Heston WDW. 1995. Decreased growth of established human prostate LNCaP tumors in nude mice fed a lowfat diet. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 87:1456–62
- Weaver CM. 1994. Age related calcium requirements due to changes in absorption and utilization. J. Nutr. 124:1418– 25S
- 183. West DW, Slattery ML, Robinson LM, French TK, Mahoney AW. 1991. Adult dietary intake and prostate cancer risk in Utah: a case-control study with special emphasis on aggressive tumors. Cancer Causes Control 2:85–94
- Weststrate JA, van het Hof KH. 1995.
 Sucrose polyester and plasma carotenoid concentrations in healthy subjects. Am.

- J. Clin. Nutr. 62:591-97
- Whittemore AS, Keller JB, Betensky R. 1991. Low-grade, latent prostate cancer volume: predictor of clinical cancer incidence? J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 83:1231– 35
- 186. Whittemore AS, Kolonel LN, Wu AH, John EM, Gallagher RP, et al. 1995. Prostate cancer in relation to diet, physical activity, and body size in blacks, whites, and asians in the United States and Canada. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 87: 652–61
- 187. Whittemore AS, Wu AH, Kolonel LN, John EM, Gallagher RP, et al. 1995. Family history and prostate cancer risk in black, white, and Asian men in the United States and Canada. Am. J. Epidemiol. 141:732–40
- Willett WC. 1990. Nutritional Epidemiology. New York: Oxford Univ.
- Willett WC. 1997. Specific fattty acids and risks of breast and prostate cancer: dietary intake. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 66(suppl):1557–63S
- 189a. World Cancer Research Fund/Am. Inst. Cancer Res. 1997. Food, Nutrition and the Prevention of Cancer: A Global Perspective. Washington, DC: Am. Inst. Cancer Res.
- Wynder EL, Mabuchi K, Whitmore WF. 1971. Epidemiology of cancer of the prostate. *Cancer* 28:344–60
- Yu H, Harris RE, Wynder EL. 1988. Case-control study of prostate cancer and socioeconomical factors. *Prostate* 13:317–25
- Zaridze DG, Boyle P. 1987. Cancer of the prostate: epidemiology and aetiology. Br. J. Urol. 59:493–502
- Zaridze DG, Boyle P, Smans M. 1984. International trends in prostatic cancer. Int. J. Cancer 33:223–30